

The associated features of multiple somatic symptom complexes

Francis Creed FMedSci¹, Barbara Tomenson MSc² Carolyn Chew-Graham FRCGP³, Gary Macfarlane FRCP⁴, John McBeth⁵.

¹Neuroscience and Mental Health, University of Manchester, UK. ² Biostatistics Unit, Institute of Population Health, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK, ³Research Institute, Primary Care and Health Sciences, Keele University, Newcastle, Staffs. ST5 5BG, West Midlands CLAHRC. ⁴Epidemiology Group, Aberdeen Centre for Arthritis and Musculoskeletal Health, School of Medicine, Medical Sciences and Nutrition, University of Aberdeen, UK, ⁵Arthritis Research UK Epidemiology Unit, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK.

Address of corresponding author:

Prof Francis Creed
Rawnsley Building
Manchester Royal Infirmary,
Oxford Road
Manchester
M13 9WL
Tel: +44 161 276 5331
Fax: +44 161 275 5043
E-mail: francis.creed@manchester.ac.uk

Category: Original article

Funder: UK Medical Research Council

Conflicts of Interest: None of the authors have conflicts of interest to report

Text = 3,864 words ([now 4148](#))

4 Tables

2 Figures

Abstract (250 words)

Objective

To assess whether two or more functional somatic symptom complexes (FSSCs) showed stronger association with psychosocial correlates than single or no FSSC after adjustment for depression/anxiety and general medical disorders.

Methods

In a population-based sample we identified, by standardised questionnaire, participants with chronic widespread pain, chronic fatigue and irritable bowel syndrome, excluding those with a medical cause for pain/fatigue. We compared psychosocial variables in three groups: multiple (>1), single or no FSS, adjusting for depression/anxiety and general medical disorders using ordinal logistic regression. We evaluated whether multiple FSSCs predicted health status 1 year later using ANOVA multiple regression to adjust for confounders.

Results

Of 1443 participants (58.0% response) medical records were examined in 990: 4.4% (n=44) had 2 or 3 symptom complexes, 16.2% a single symptom complex. Most any psychosocial adversities were significantly associated with number of FSSCs in the expected direction but, for many some, statistical significance was lost after adjustment for depression/anxiety and medical illness. Previously married status, neuroticism, Somatic symptoms, health anxiety, life events, impairment and number of prior doctor visits remained significantly associated. Impaired health status 1 year later was predicted by multiple somatic **symptom complexes** even after adjustment for depression, anxiety, medical disorders and number of somatic symptoms.

Conclusions

~~Several associated features, e.g. Depression, anxiety, medical illness and health anxiety, and recent life events,~~ demonstrated an exposure-response relationship with number of ~~functional~~ somatic symptom complexes. These may be core features of all Functional Somatic Syndromes and may explain why number of somatic symptom complexes predicted subsequent health status. These features merit inclusion in prospective studies to ascertain causal relationships. ~~They may explain the independent component of multiple FSS that predicted subsequent health status.~~

Keywords: Chronic Fatigue, Epidemiology, Fibromyalgia, Functional Somatic Syndromes, Medically Unexplained Symptoms, Population based.

Introduction

Functional somatic syndromes (FSS), such as chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS), chronic widespread pain (fibromyalgia) and irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), are common reasons for presenting to medical services but their aetiology is not fully understood. The risk factors for these syndromes include: female gender, childhood adversity, prior infections, few years of education, low socio-economic status, recent threatening life events, anxiety and depressive disorders, health anxiety, neuroticism, general medical disorders and numerous somatic symptoms [1-7]. One of the most replicated risk markers, however, is the presence of another syndrome, i.e. having one FSS is strongly associated with having, or developing, another [3, 8-11]. In clinical populations between a half and a third of those with a single functional somatic syndrome have at least one more; in the general population the prevalence of “polysyndromic” functional somatic syndromes has been shown to be 2- 4%) [9, 12-15].

It is not clear why the occurrence of one functional somatic syndrome predicts the development of another, and the risk factors for multiple, as opposed to single, functional somatic syndromes have not been extensively investigated. Several studies have found that multiple syndromes are associated with a high prevalence of depression and anxiety [13,14,16]. On the other hand, studies using latent class analysis of particular groups have suggested that patients with multiple FSS form a class of their own, separate from that comprised of anxiety and depression [9,17].

Multiple functional somatic syndromes are associated with greater impairment of health status than single FSS and with a greater frequency of healthcare use [9,14,15,17]. This might reflect the high prevalence of anxiety/depressive or general medical disorders, but other associated factors, such as numerous somatic symptoms, few years of education and abuse history are known to be associated with impairment and high healthcare use [11, 18-21].

The relationship between numerous somatic symptoms and multiple somatic syndromes is not clear. To some extent these are overlapping concepts as each FSS has its own list of somatic symptoms necessary for the diagnosis so more than one FSS is bound to be associated with a greater number of somatic symptoms. This appears to be confirmed by studies using cluster or latent class analysis; increasing total somatic symptom scores are associated with multiple somatic syndromes [12-14]. However, latent class analysis of somatic symptoms indicate separate classes for multiple FSS and multiple somatic symptoms [9, 17]. One way to study these closely associated phenomena is to identify the relationship of each with outcome; there is some evidence that chronic fatigue or chronic widespread pain are independent predictors of health status, in addition to depression/anxiety and number of somatic symptoms [19, 21,22]. We are not aware of any previous prospective study that has assessed whether multiple FSS predicts outcome after adjustment for number of somatic symptoms, depression/anxiety and general medical disorders.

The current study uses data from a small, population-based study, which we have reported previously but we have not previously examined the correlates of multiple

syndromes or considered them as a predictor of health status [22, 23]. The study allowed us to examine the presence of chronic fatigue, irritable bowel and chronic widespread pain, which we refer to as “somatic symptom complexes” as the study did not formally assess the presence of these functional somatic syndromes according to standardised criteria.

This study aimed to test the following hypotheses:

- 1) That multiple (2 or 3) ~~functional~~ somatic symptom complexes (FSSCs) show a significantly higher number of associated features compared to single FSSC or no FSSC and there is an “exposure–response” relationship across the three groups (multiple, single and no FSSC).
- 2) That this difference in associated features between multiple, single and no FSSCs becomes non-significant after adjustment for depression, anxiety and general medical disorders.
- 3) That multiple ~~functional~~ somatic symptom complexes do not form an independent predictor of subsequent health status after adjustment for the effect of anxiety, depression, general medical illness and bothersome somatic symptoms.

Hypotheses 1 and 2 were tested in a cross-sectional design and hypothesis 3 in a prospective design.

Methods

We conducted a population-based study in which we mailed 2985 baseline questionnaires to people aged 25-65 years registered at two general practices in North West England, one in an affluent rural area and one in a more deprived inner

city area. Potential participants were selected from complete population lists (i.e. GP registers) using simple random sampling assuming that the sampled sub-group was representative of the population from which they were drawn (Figure 1). The 2490 who were eligible to participate were sent a questionnaire that assessed the presence of chronic widespread pain, chronic fatigue irritable bowel syndrome and a number of potential associated factors (see below for details). Non-responders were sent a reminder postcard after two weeks and, if necessary, a further questionnaire after two further weeks.

Written informed consent was sought to examine participant's medical records. The medical record review identified any general medical illness that could explain the presence of pain or fatigue and also allowed us to count the number of consultations for the year before and year after questionnaire completion.

Definition of functional somatic symptom complexes

Chronic widespread pain (CWP)

We used the definition of chronic widespread pain included in the American College of Rheumatology 1990 criteria for fibromyalgia (24). Participants were asked to report the presence of any musculoskeletal pain they had experienced in the past month, whether their pain had persisted for three months or more, and to shade on a four-view blank body manikin the location(s) of their pain. Using these data, participants were classified as Chronic Widespread Pain if they reported pain, present for at least three months: above and below the waist, in the right and left hand sides of the body and in the axial skeleton.

Chronic fatigue

The fatigue scale contains 11 items that inquire about symptoms of physical and mental fatigue. Individual items are scored 0 or 1, with a total score ranging from 0 to 11. Participants with fatigue scores of 4 or more on the Fatigue Scale (25) and who had reported symptoms for six months or more were classified as having chronic fatigue.

Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS)

We identified those with IBS according to the Rome II criteria [26]. To fulfil these criteria participants had to report 3 months of continuous or recurring abdominal pain or discomfort and two of the following: (1) relief with a bowel movement, (2) be coupled with a change in frequency, or (3) be related to a change in the consistency of stools.

Medical record review

For participants who had agreed, medical records were reviewed for 12 months before and after the date of baseline questionnaire by two raters (FC and CCG) to see if there was evidence of a recognised medical condition that could explain chronic fatigue, irritable bowel syndrome or chronic widespread pain. A conservative approach was used; any medical illness that could cause fatigue or widespread pain led to exclusion from the relevant functional somatic symptom complex classification; only those participants who reported the relevant symptoms but who

did not have such a medical illness evident in the GP records were classified as having chronic fatigue, chronic widespread pain or irritable bowel.

Socio- demographic details

These included age, sex, marital status, current work status (including disability status), number of years of formal education and details of any outstanding compensation claims.

Co-morbid general medical disorders: Respondents were asked if they had any common medical disorders on a checklist and to add any not listed. For analysis, participants were classified as having none, one, two or more general medical disorders.

Symptom experience: The Somatic Symptom Inventory (SSI) asks respondents to rate 13 bodily symptoms on a 5-point scale as to “how much it has bothered you over the past 6 months?” The total score ranges from 13 to 65 with high scores indicating greater bother (27).

The Whitely index is a 14-item measure of health anxiety (28). Each item is scored on a 5-point Likert scale, 1 = “not at all” to 5 = “a great deal.” The total score ranges from 14 to 70, with high values indicating greater health anxiety.

Childhood Factors

The *Childhood Physical and Sexual Abuse questionnaire* consists of 8 questions concerning abuse (29). Respondents were rated as having experienced childhood

abuse if, before the age of 16 years, they reported that an older person touched them or they were made to touch someone else in a sexual way, or intercourse was attempted or completed (sexual abuse); that they were hit, kicked or beaten often and/or their life was seriously threatened (physical abuse); they were often insulted, humiliated or made to feel guilty (psychological abuse).

The *Parental Bonding Instrument* includes 7 questions concerning perceived maternal care and 1 item concerning maternal control (30,31).

Adult attachment, personality, recent stress and mental state

The *Relationship Scales Questionnaire* measures adult attachment style by asking respondents to identify which of four sets of characteristics most closely matches the way they relate to other people (32). These are: secure (trusting in others), preoccupied (emotionally dependent, low self-esteem), fearful (low trust of others, fearful of intimacy) and dismissing (low trust in others, compulsively self-reliant).

Social Support was assessed with a question determining whether the respondent had a close confidant with whom they can discuss all concerns.

The List of threatening experiences (LTE-Q) measures the experience of 12 threatening personal situations or events in the last 6 months (33). The total score of positive responses represents recent exposure to threatening experiences; we quote the results in 3 groups (0, 1, 2 or more). We also quote separately the scores for questions regarding illness in the participant and close relatives.

The *Revised NEO Personality Inventory (NEO-PI-R)* measures the personality trait of Neuroticism (34). It has a maximum score of 48 with high scores indicating higher levels of neuroticism.

The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) is a valid and reliable measure of anxiety and depression in the general population which avoids questions about physical symptoms (e.g. weight loss, pain) that might be caused by general medical illness (35) . In this study we quote the anxiety and depression scores.

Health status and healthcare use

The *Short Form 12 (SF12) Questionnaire* assesses health status (36,37). It is a validated shortened version of the 36 item version and both versions have been used in FSS. The 12 items yield summary scores for mental (SF12-MCS) and physical (SF12-PCS) components of health status, which are transformed into norm based scoring. A low score represents impairment of health status.

The Euroqol (EQ5D) asks respondents to rate, problems they experience in mobility, self care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression [38]. It also asks respondents to rate, on a vertical “thermometer”, their own health today on a scale from 0 (worst imaginable health state) to 100 (best imaginable). It is the latter that we used in the prospective part of this study.

Healthcare use: For participants who had agreed, medical records were reviewed, counting all consultations with the GP or practice nurse for 12 months before and after the baseline questionnaire.

The study was performed in concordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. It received ethical approval from the North Manchester Local Research Ethics Committee (REC reference number: 06/Q1406/14). All participants provided written informed consent to participate after full explanation of the study.

Statistical analysis

We divided the participants into 3 groups according to the number of somatic symptom complexes: none, one, 2 or 3 (henceforth referred to as “multiple”). These 3 groups were compared in univariable analysis in terms of the variables listed above as potential correlates; socio-demographic, childhood factors, adult attachment, recent stress and illness, and mental state measures. Odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for ~~multiple number of~~ symptom complexes ~~with 95% confidence intervals~~ are presented for categorical measures (table 1), and group means and standard deviations for continuous measures (tables 2 and 3). ~~We repeated these analyses using Ordinal~~ logistic regression was used for the to test the association between categorical baseline variables ~~to adjusting~~ for gender, HADS anxiety and depression scores, and number of general medical disorders. Continuous baseline and 1 year follow up measures in the 3 groups were ~~adjusted~~ compared using ANCOVAR. ~~The ANCOVAR~~ A multiple regression analyses ~~was~~ repeated used to assess the association between number of symptom complexes and for each continuous baseline and follow up variable, adjusting for gender, HADS anxiety and depression scores, and number of general medical disorders. ~~s measured also at 1 year follow up~~ (tables 2 and 3).

~~Subsequently, we performed a~~ multiple regression analysis was used to assess whether number of somatic symptom complexes at baseline predicted health status at 1 year follow-up. EQ5D “health thermometer” at follow-up was ~~used as~~ the dependent variable (table 4). The following were entered as independent variables: age, gender, number of general medical disorders, somatic symptom score (SSI) , total HADS score (anxiety and depression combined) , baseline EQ5D thermometer score and number of somatic symptom complexes. ~~In addition, we used ANOVA to quantify the difference in EQ5D at follow up for the 3 somatic symptom groups after adjusting for age, gender, HADS anxiety/depression scores, number of general medical disorders, Somatic Symptom Inventory and baseline EQ5D score.~~

In the adjusted analyses, inverse probability sampling weights were also used to adjust for the non-completion of questionnaires and non-availability of medical records and/or 1 year follow up data. For non-completion of baseline questionnaires (961 returned out of 1657 eligible), the probability of completion was calculated using logistic regression with independent variables, centre, age group and gender. For non-availability of medical records and 1 year follow data, the probability of obtaining data was calculated using logistic regression with all the baseline variables as independent variables. These probabilities were multiplied together, and their reciprocal was used as the sampling weight. All analyses were carried out using Stata version 14.

Results

Participation rates

Of the 2490 questionnaires mailed, 1999 (80.3%) were returned, of which 556 (22.3%) were blank or did not contain usable information (see figure 1). A total of 1443 (58.0%) participants returned a completed questionnaire and participated in the study. Non-responders were significantly more likely to be male (53.1% versus 42.3%), and younger (mean=43.9 versus 47.0 years) than the remaining eligible participants. The participation rates at the two practices were similar (56.3% and 59.3%).

We examined 990 medical records of the 992 participants who gave permission for this. Those who refused permission were younger (45.8 v 47.5 years, $p = 0.013$) and more likely to be female (63.2% v 55.5%, $p = 0.008$) but did not differ in terms of marital status, years of education, unemployment, prevalence of somatic symptom complex (assessed by questionnaire alone), anxiety, depression or somatic symptoms scores. Completed *follow up* questionnaires were received from 741 (75% of the 989 who agreed), of whom 638 (86.1%) also had their medical notes examined (figure 1). The 990 participants on whom we had complete baseline data were used in the first, cross-sectional part of this study. Data from the 638 participants who were followed up were used in the prospective part of the study.

Prevalence of syndromes

Of the 990 participants, 20 with chronic widespread pain, 9 with IBS and 28 with chronic fatigue had pain or fatigue that could be attributed to a co-existing general medical illness so these participants were excluded from the relevant somatic symptom complexes. After these exclusions 9.4 % (n=93) had Chronic Widespread

Pain, 3.5 % (n=35) had Irritable Bowel Syndrome and 12.6 % (n=125) had Chronic Fatigue. Approximately half of those who reported fatigue, widespread pain or abdominal pain had consulted their GP with the relevant symptom and, of these, one third had undergone investigations which showed no indication of underlying medical illness. Overall, 161 participants (16.3 %) had one syndrome, 40 (4 %) had two syndromes and four (0.4 %) reported all three. Figure 2 shows the overlap of syndromes.

Comparison of somatic symptom ~~complexes~~ ~~groups~~

Many of the features associated with FSS were most frequently recorded in those with multiple syndromes and they were distributed in an exposure-response relationship across the groups of multiple, single and no somatic symptom groups (table 1). After adjustment for gender, anxiety, depression and general medical disorders, many of the features were no longer associated with number of symptom complexes but ~~previously married status, neuroticism,~~ number of somatic symptoms (Somatic Symptom Inventory), health anxiety (Whitely index), ~~life events~~ ~~(Threatening Experiences score)~~ and number of doctor visits in the previous year remained significantly associated. All 3 measures of health status (SF-12 PCS, MCS and EQ5D) showed greatest impairment in the multiple FSS group (table 2).

At 1 year follow-up, after adjustment for gender, HADS anxiety and depression and number of general medical disorders, the number of somatic symptoms and all 3 measures of health status showed worst outcome for those with multiple somatic symptoms complexes at baseline. The same was true for number of consultations

during the follow-up year, though this became non-significant after adjustment for gender, anxiety, depression, and general medical illness (table 3).

Prediction of health status at 1 year follow-up

Multiple regression analysis which adjusted for the potential confounders of age, gender, number of current medical disorders, Somatic Symptom Inventory (number of bothersome somatic symptoms), HADS (anxiety and depression) score and baseline EQ5D score demonstrated that number of somatic symptom complexes was an independent predictor of health status at follow-up (table 4). ~~ANOVA which adjusted for these confounders yielded follow-up EuroQol scores of 80.6 (95%CI: 79.4-81.7), 78.8 (95%CI: 76.3-81.4) and 70.1 (95%CI: 64.8-75.4). The significant downward trend~~ -for none, 1 and multiple somatic symptom complexes at baseline respectively (a low score represents impaired health status ~~-~~) table 2) is maintained at follow up (table 3). The mean reductions from baseline to follow up have been added to table 3. The positive significant regression coefficient for increase (improvement) in EQ5D from baseline to follow up suggest that the improvements are greater for participants with more syndromes. The data for SSI is similar, with negative regression coefficient for the change because for SSI a reduced score represents improvement.

All the analyses combining these with the participants who had 2 symptom complexes have been repeated with these 4 participants in a separate higher group. The results are very similar to those presented and do not alter any conclusions. Therefore we conclude that this extra category has only a negligible influence on the

results. For example in table 4, the regression coefficient for symptom complexes in 4 groups (0 vs 1 vs 2 vs 3 on an ordinal scale) is -3.58, 95% CI -6.79 to -0.37, p=0.029.

Discussion

Our first hypothesis was upheld, the presence of multiple somatic symptom complexes was associated with a wide range of the usually accepted risk factors for these disorders and there was an “exposure–response” relationship across the three groups: none, one and multiple functional somatic symptom complexes. Many of these associations became non-significant when we adjusted for depression, anxiety and general medical illness, confirming, in part, our second hypothesis, but ~~previously married status and~~ the scores for ~~neuroticism,~~ bothersome somatic symptoms, health anxiety, ~~life events,~~ impairment of health status and number of prior doctor visits remained significantly ~~higher in the multiple~~ associated with more symptom complexes ~~ndromes~~ group. Our third hypothesis was not upheld; multiple somatic symptom complexes formed an independent risk factor for poor outcome after adjustment for the effect of anxiety, depression general medical illness and bothersome somatic symptoms.

Before discussing these results further it is important to note a number of limitations of this study. This was a questionnaire-based study which meant we were not able to establish the diagnosis of the 3 functional somatic syndromes according to standardised criteria. We used the questionnaire-based syndrome definitions of irritable bowel syndrome and chronic widespread pain which have been used widely in population-based studies, but we measured chronic fatigue, rather than chronic fatigue syndrome. We did, however, examine participants’ medical notes and

excluded from our functional somatic symptom groups those who had a medical illness that might explain the fatigue, pain or disturbed bowel function. This is a strength of this study compared to many other population-based ones. Another major strength of the study was the statistical analysis which, unlike many others, adjusted for the well-recognised associated features of anxiety, depression and general medical disorders, revealing, for the first time, further independent associated features.

Another major limitation is the cross-sectional design of the associated features part of the study. This needs to be replicated in a prospective design to establish whether the associated features we have identified predict subsequent syndrome development rather than being a consequence of the syndrome. The small number of respondents and the relatively low response rate are also limitations though we were able to show a) how the responders and non-responders differed and b) that, among those who did and did not agree to a medical record review, there were no major differences on many of the key variables. [We also adjusted for possible bias between our sample and the population of eligible participants using inverse probability weighting in our analyses.](#)

The prevalence of the 3 somatic symptom complexes in this study is comparable with other studies using similar criteria (13, 39,40). The threshold for inclusion in the somatic symptom complex groups might be considered to be rather low (e.g. we measured chronic fatigue not chronic fatigue syndrome) but these criteria did yield satisfactory numbers for statistical analysis and the prevalence of 2 or more somatic

symptoms complexes (4.4%) is not far outside the range of previous studies (9,12-15). The group with multiple somatic symptom complexes had greater impairment of health status than those with a single or no functional somatic syndromes and this difference remained at one year follow-up (table 3). The magnitude of the differences on EQ5D thermometer at baseline and at follow-up were quite marked in line with other studies (9,14,15,17). In addition, the multiple somatic symptom group attended primary care more frequently both before and during the year after our first assessment. These findings suggest validity of the somatic symptom complex groups we identified. Furthermore, we found that most of the purported risk factors for the functional somatic syndromes were associated with one or more somatic symptom complexes in our cross-sectional analysis. The main exception is the lack of a predominance of females; the reason for this is not clear.

The associated features of the somatic symptom complexes in this study show differences in the expected direction, ~~i.e. the difference from the no syndrome group was greatest for those~~ with a higher incidence of risk factors being associated with more ~~with multiple~~ symptom complexes. The unadjusted odds ratios comparing them with the remainder were quite marked (column 54 in table 1). Although we have confirmed that anxiety, depression and comorbid physical conditions are associated with multiple somatic symptom complexes, there are others, namely: ~~previously married status, neuroticism,~~ somatic symptoms and, health anxiety ~~and threatening life events~~. This confirms the notion that those people who have more than one somatic symptom complex have a greater load of “risk factors” than those with one or no such complex, at least in a cross-sectional analysis.

Much previous research concerning multiple functional somatic syndromes has used latent class analysis to define groups of participants. Three studies, both population-based and clinical, found separate groups for multiple functional somatic syndromes and for anxiety/depression; one study also found an additional group with numerous somatic symptoms (9,14, 17). This, together with our analysis showing the predictors of health status, suggests that the dimensions of a) multiple somatic syndromes, b) numerous somatic symptoms and c) anxiety/depression need to be considered as separated dimensions in future research. It has been previously assumed that numerous somatic symptoms is synonymous with anxiety and depression, and we have shown this is not the case.

There has been less work concerning the associated features of multiple functional somatic syndromes. A *preponderance of females* in this group was reported by one other study but contradicted by another (9,15). *General medical disorders*, a feature neglected in some studies, is another feature (5,6,9,11, 41) as are *health anxiety* and *frequent consultation* (14). *Numerous other somatic symptoms or syndromes, mood disorder, health anxiety, neuroticism, adverse life events, impaired quality of life and increased health care seeking* emerged from a study of patients with irritable bowel syndrome and another somatic syndrome (42). This list is similar to our findings. It is also similar to the features reported to be common to several individual functional somatic syndromes; *female gender, high health anxiety, other somatic symptoms, childhood psychological abuse and recent adverse life events* (10, 23). Thus there seems to be a growing consensus of the risk factors which may be regarded as the

“core features” or predisposing factors that are encapsulated in the “lumpers” argument that all functional somatic syndromes are manifestations of the same underlying disorder (43). They are common to all FSS and a greater number of these features is associated with multiple FSS.

The main implication of this study involves further research. Firstly, we need to know whether these correlates are true risk factors associated with the development of new syndromes and, secondly, we need to understand whether a high “risk load” predicts the development of multiple syndromes. Alternatively, or, in addition, they may predict persistence of somatic symptoms which could contribute to the development of multiple syndromes. Answering these questions would need large prospective studies. [Further research is needed to assess whether our findings hold in functional somatic syndromes other than Irritable Bowel Syndrome, Chronic Fatigue syndrome and Chronic widespread pain.](#)

From the clinical perspective, patients with multiple functional somatic syndromes should be assessed for all of these associated features, as this may help guide the clinician in management decisions as well as being helpful in predicting outcome (44).

Declaration of Competing Interests The authors have no competing interests to report.

Acknowledgements We are grateful to the participants in the project and to the General Practitioners and their teams who facilitated it. The study would have been

impossible without the work of our research assistants: Judy Jackson, Alison Littlewood and Ian Davies. The study was funded by the UK Medical Research Council. The UK MRC had no role in study design and conduct of the study; collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data; and preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript.

References

1. Hempel S, Chambers D, Bagnall A, Forbes C. Risk factors for chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalomyelitis: a systematic scoping review of multiple predictor studies. *Psychological Medicine* 2008;38(7):915-26.
2. Afari N, Ahumada SM, Wright L, Mostoufi S, Golnari G, Reis V, Cuneo J. Psychological Trauma and Functional Somatic Syndromes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Psychosom Med*. 2014 Jan; 76(1): 2–11.
3. Hamilton WT, Gallagher AM, Thomas JM, White PD. Risk markers for both chronic fatigue and irritable bowel syndromes: a prospective case–control study in primary care. *Psychol Med* 2009;39:1913-21.
4. Klem F, Wadhwa A, Prokop LJ, Sundt WJ, Farrugia G, Camilleri M, Singh S, Grover M. Prevalence, Risk Factors, and Outcomes of Irritable Bowel Syndrome After Infectious Enteritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Gastroenterology*. 2017 Apr;152(5):1042-1054.
5. Varinen A, Kosunen E, Mattila K, Koskela T, Sumanen M. The relationship between childhood adversities and fibromyalgia in the general population. *J Psychosom Res*. 2017 Aug;99:137-142.
6. Lee SK, Yoon DW, Lee S, Kim J, Choi KM, Shin C. The association between irritable bowel syndrome and the coexistence of depression and insomnia. *J Psychosom Res*. 2017 Feb;93:1-5.
7. Sibelli A, Chalder T, Everitt H, Workman P, Windgassen S, Moss-Morris R. A systematic review with meta-analysis of the role of anxiety and depression in irritable bowel syndrome onset. *Psychol Med*. 2016 Nov;46(15):3065-3080.

8. Warren JW, Langenberg P, Clauw DJ. The number of existing functional somatic syndromes (FSSs) is an important risk factor for new, different FSSs. *J Psychosom Res.* 2013 Jan;74(1):12-7.
9. Schur EA, Afari N, Furber H, Olarte M, Goldberg J, Sullivan PF, et al. Feeling bad in more ways than one: comorbidity patterns of medically unexplained and psychiatric conditions. *J Gen Intern Med* Jun 2007;22:818-21.
10. Aggarwal V, McBeth J, Zakrzewska JM, Lunt M, Macfarlane GJ. The epidemiology of chronic syndromes that are frequently unexplained: do they have common associated factors? *Int J Epidemiol* 2006;35:468-76.
11. Yang TY, Chen CS, Lin CL, Lin WM, Kuo CN, Kao CH. Risk for Irritable Bowel Syndrome in Fibromyalgia Patients: A National Database Study. *Medicine (Baltimore).* 2017 Apr;96(14):e6657.
12. Kato K, Sullivan PF, Pedersen NL. Latent class analysis of functional somatic symptoms in a population-based sample of twins. *J Psychosom Res* May 2010;68:447-53.
13. Lacourt T, Houtveen J, van Doornen L. "Functional somatic syndromes, one or many?" An answer by cluster analysis. *J Psychosom Res.* 2013 Jan;74(1):6-11.
14. Fink P, Toft T, Hansen MS, Ørnbøl E, Olesen F. Symptoms and syndromes of bodily distress: an exploratory study of 978 internal medical, neurological, and primary care patients. *Psychosom Med.* 2007 Jan;69(1):30-9.
15. Eliassen M, Jørgensen T, Schröder A, Dantoft TM, Fink P, Poulsen CH, Johansen NB, Eplov LF, Skovbjerg S, Kreiner S. Somatic symptom profiles in the general population: a latent class analysis in a Danish population-based health survey. *Clin Epidemiol.* 2017 Aug 23;9:421-433.

16. Janssens KA, Zijlema WL, Joustra ML, Rosmalen JG. Mood and Anxiety Disorders in Chronic Fatigue Syndrome, Fibromyalgia, and Irritable Bowel Syndrome: Results From the LifeLines Cohort Study. *Psychosom Med*. 2015 May;77(4):449-57.
17. Williams TE, Chalder T, Sharpe M, White PD. Heterogeneity in chronic fatigue syndrome - empirically defined subgroups from the PACE trial. *Psychol Med*. 2017 Jun;47(8):1454-1465.
18. Joustra ML, Janssens KA, Bültmann U, Rosmalen JG. Functional limitations in functional somatic syndromes and well-defined medical diseases. Results from the general population cohort LifeLines. *J Psychosom Res*. 2015 Aug;79(2):94-9.
19. Lackner JM, Gudleski GD, Thakur ER, Stewart TJ, Iacobucci GJ, Spiegel BM. The impact of physical complaints, social environment, and psychological functioning on IBS patients' health perceptions: looking beyond GI symptom severity. *Am J Gastroenterol*. 2014 Feb;109(2):224-33.
20. Tomenson B, Essau C, Jacobi F, Ladwig KH, Leiknes KA, Lieb R, Meinlschmidt G, McBeth J, Rosmalen J, Rief W, Sumathipala A, Creed F; EURASMUS Population Based Study Group. Total somatic symptom score as a predictor of health outcome in somatic symptom disorders. *Br J Psychiatry*. 2013 Nov;203(5):373-80.
21. Van Oudenhove L, Vandenberghe J, Vos R, Holvoet L, Demyttenaere K, Tack J. Risk factors for impaired health-related quality of life in functional dyspepsia. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. 2011 Jan;33(2):261-74.
22. Creed FH, Tomenson B, Chew-Graham C, Macfarlane GJ, Davies I, Jackson J, Littlewood A, McBeth J. Multiple somatic symptoms predict impaired health status in functional somatic syndromes. *Int J Behav Med*. 2013 Jun;20(2):194-205.

23. McBeth J, Tomenson B, Chew-Graham CA, Macfarlane GJ, Jackson J, Littlewood A, Creed FH. Common and unique associated factors for medically unexplained chronic widespread pain and chronic fatigue. *J Psychosom Res.* 2015 Dec;79(6):484-91.
24. Wolfe F, Smythe HA, Yunus MB. The American College of Rheumatology 1990 Criteria for the Classification of Fibromyalgia. Report of the Multicenter Criteria Committee. *Arthritis & Rheumatism* 1990 February;33(2):160-72.
25. Chalder T, Berelowitz G, Pawlikowska T, fsWatts L, Wessely S, Wright D, Wallace EP.. Development of a fatigue scale. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1993;37(2):147-53.
26. Drossman DA, Corazziari E, Talley NJ, Thompson WG, Whitehead WE. Research diagnostic questions for functional gastrointestinal disorders, Rome II modular questionnaire: investigator and respondent forms. In: Drossman DA, Corazziari E, Talley NJ, Thompson WG, Whitehead WE, editors. Rome II. The Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders. Diagnosis, Pathophysiology and Treatment: A Multinational Consensus. McLean, VA: Degnon Associates; 2000. p. 669-88.
27. Derogatis LR, Lipman RS, Covi L. The Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL): a self-report symptom inventory. *Behav Sci* 1974;19:1-15.
28. Speckens AE, Spinhoven P, Sloekers PP, Bolk JH, Van Hemert AM. A validation study of the Whitely Index, the Illness Attitude Scales, and the Somatosensory Amplification Scale in general medical and general practice patients. *J Psychosom Res* 1996;40:95Y104.

29. Mullen PE, Martin JL, Anderson JC, Romans SE, Herbison GP. Childhood sexual abuse and mental health in adult life. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 1993 December;163:721-32.
30. Parker G. The Parental Bonding Instrument: psychometric properties reviewed. *Psychiatr Dev* 1989;7:317-35.
31. Wilhelm K, Niven H, Parker G, Hadzi-Pavlovic D. The stability of the Parental Bonding Instrument over a 20-year period. *Psychol Med* 2005;35:387-93.
32. Ciechanowski PS, Walker EA, Katon WJ, Russo JE. Attachment theory: a model for health care utilization and somatization. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 2002 July;64(4):660-7.
33. Brugha T, Bebbington P, Tennant C, Hurry J. The List of Threatening Experiences: a subset of 12 life event categories with considerable long-term contextual threat. *Psychological Medicine* 1985 February;15(1):189-94.
34. Costa PT, McCrae RR. The revised NEO Personality Inventory: Professional Manual. *Psychological Assessment Resources*; 1992.
35. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 1983;67:361-70.
36. Ware JE, Kosinski M, Keller S.D. A 12-Item Short-Form Health Survey: construction of scales and preliminary tests of reliability and validity. *Med Care* 1996;34:220-33.
37. Gandek B, Ware JE, Aaranson NK, Apolone G, Bjorner JB, Brazier JE, Bullinger M, Kaasa S, Leplege A, Prieto L, Sullivan M. Cross-validation of item selection and scoring for the SF-12 Health Survey in nine countries: results from the IQOLA Project. *International Quality of Life Assessment. J Clin Epidemiol* 1998;51:1171-8.

38. Williams A. Euroqol — A new facility for the measurement of Health-Related Quality-Of-Life. *Health Policy*. 1990;16(3):199–208.
39. McBeth J, Jones K. Epidemiology of chronic musculoskeletal pain. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol*. 2007 Jun;21(3):403-25.
40. Hillilä MT, Färkkilä MA. Prevalence of irritable bowel syndrome according to different diagnostic criteria in a non-selected adult population. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. 2004 Aug 1;20(3):339-45.
41. Thakur ER, Quigley BM, El-Serag HB, Gudleski GD, Lackner JM. Medical comorbidity and distress in patients with irritable bowel syndrome: The moderating role of age. *J Psychosom Res*. 2016 Sep;88:48-53.
42. Vandvik PO, Wilhelmsen I, Ihlebaek C, Farup PG. Comorbidity of irritable bowel syndrome in general practice: a striking feature with clinical implications. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. 2004 Nov 15;20(10):1195-203.
43. P.D. White, Chronic fatigue syndrome: is it one discrete syndrome or many? Implications for the “one versus many” functional somatic syndromes debate, *J. Psychosom. Res*. 2010; 68 455–459.
44. Collin SM, Heron J, Nikolaus S, Knoop H, Crawley E. Chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS/ME) symptom-based phenotypes and 1-year treatment outcomes in two clinical cohorts of adult patients in the UK and The Netherlands. *J Psychosom Res*. 2018 Jan;104:29-34.